
Zoning Board  
November 12, 2015 

Milton, Florida 
 
The Zoning Board met on the above date with the following members present: Chairman Bill Dubois, Don Richards, 
Robin Edwards, Colten Wright, Jim Waite, Bill Seelman, Alice Brupbacher, Alan Isaacson, Lonnie Hawkins and 
Scott Kemp. Jason McLarty (Planner II), Darliene Stanhope (Planner III) and Beckie Cato (Planning and Zoning 
Director) represented the Planning and Zoning Department.     

The first item of business was the review of the minutes from the October 8, 2015 meeting.   

Richards moved approval of the minutes from the October 8, 2015 meeting. Wright seconded, and the motion 
passed unanimously.   

Old Business 

1. 2015-CU-024  TABLED FROM OCTOBER 8, 2015 
Project/Applicant: GAC Property Management LLC 
 Represented by Greg Britton of Navarre Family Watersports 
Location: 8671 Navarre Parkway, Navarre, FL 
Parcel: 21-2S-26-0000-00126-0000 
Zoned: HCD (Highway Commercial Development)-HON (Heart of Navarre) 
Request 1: Conditional Use to allow commercial outdoor amusement activities, 

specifically a miniature (putt putt) golf course, zip line, and inflatable aqua 
island water park within HCD/HON (Highway Commercial Development 
/Heart of Navarre) zoning district. 

Request 2: Conditional Use to allow recreational activities, specifically a boat and jet 
ski excursion rental facility with dock within HCD/HON (Highway 
Commercial Development/Heart of Navarre) zoning district. 

 (LDC 6.09.02.V & 6.09.02.EE) 
District: Commissioner District #4 

And 
2015-V-064 TABLED FROM OCTOBER 8, 2015 
Project/Applicant: GAC Property Management LLC 
 Represented by Greg Britton of Navarre Family Watersports 
Location: 8671 Navarre Parkway, Navarre, FL 
Parcel: 21-2S-26-0000-00126-0000 
Zoned: HCD (Highway Commercial Development)-HON (Heart of Navarre) 
Request 1: Variance to reduce the side setbacks from 50 feet to 0 feet to accommodate 

commercial outdoor amusement activities. 
Request 2: Variance to reduce the Shoreline Protection Zone setback from 50 feet to 25 

feet to accommodate commercial outdoor amusement activities. 
 (LDC 6.09.02.EE.6 & 12.01.02.A) 
District: Commissioner District #4 

 
Dubois discussed the history of this project. He said the same concerns are still in place as when the board 
previously saw this request. Dubois asked if Britton is agreeable to bring this request back in January.   
Britton said yes.  He said the jet skis, pontoon boats, and helicopter pad were approved by this board a few 
years ago. Britton said this is a matter of whether the miniature golf course is considered an amusement 
park activity.  He said the only thing he feels falls under amusement activities is the zip line.  Britton said 
he has the FAA’s (Federal Aviation Administration) approval for the helicopter pad.  Dubois said staff has 
concerns over safety. He said he feels this request has a good chance in passing, if the state agencies come 
back with no objections and staff removes safety concerns.   

 
Richards moved approval to table this request. Wright seconded, and the motion passed 
unanimously.   

 



 

 

New Business: 

1. 2015-SX-006 
Project/Applicant: Raymond Woodward Jr. 
Location: 8699 Riverstone Road, Milton, FL 

 Parcel:   09-1N-27-0000-00225-0000 
Zone:   AG-RR (Agriculture/Rural Residential) 
Request: Special Exception to allow a limited range of commercial uses in 

conjunction with a residence in AG-RR (Agriculture/Rural Residential), 
specifically a water well contracting company. 
(LDC 2.04.00.C.5) 

 District:   Commissioner District #2 
  
 Woodward said he has one employee at this business.  He said the building is 660 square feet.  
 
 Brupbacher asked how many vehicles are on the property. He said three company trucks.   
 
 Terrance Quinlan said Woodward is trying to make a living and he has no problem with this request.   
 
 Mike Bancaster said his concern is that a commercial operation will harm property values.   
 

Kemp asked if the vehicles can be moved further away from the adjacent properties. Woodward said no.   
 
Waite asked can trucks be stored on this property, if there is no business. Cato said yes.   
  
Waite moved approval of the request, with the condition a landscaping buffer be in place, as 
determined by staff. Seelman seconded, and the motion passed approved with Kemp, Hawkins, 
Seelman, Wright, Waite, Dubois, Edwards, and Richards in favor.  Brupbacher and Isaacson 
opposed.   

 
2. 2015-SX-007 

Project/Applicant: David Baio 
Location: 5630 Wychewood Road, Milton, FL 
Parcel:   30-2N-28-0000-00508-0000 
Zone:   RR1 (Rural Residential Single Family) 
Request: Special Exception to allow the dividing of a parcel in RR1 (Rural 

Residential Single Family) to accommodate a single family residence 
 (LDC 2.04.00.C.6) 

 District:   Commissioner District #3 
 

Baio said this is a 4 acre lot he is dividing in half. He said he is unsure if he will sell the second lot in the 
future.    

 
Hawkins asked if rule 6A still applies if the property is sold.  Stanhope said if the piece of property to the 
back is still in the property owner’s name, then rule 6A applies.   

 
 Wright moved approval of the request. Motion failed due to a lack of second. 
 

Isaacson moved denial of the request. Richards seconded, and the motion passed with Isaacson, 
Kemp, Hawkins, Brupbacher, Richards and Edwards in favor.  Duobis, Seelman, Wright and Waite 
opposed.   

 
3. 2015-V-085 

Project/Applicant: Glen and Tracy Garrow 
Location: 2842 Lido Blvd, Gulf Breeze, FL 

 Parcel:   36-2S-29-5571-00A00-0060 



 

 

Zone:   R1 (Single Family Residential) 
Request 1: Variance to reduce the rear setback from 25 feet to 20 feet to accommodate 

an accessory structure. 
Request 2: Variance to reduce the east side setback from 12.6 feet to 5 feet to 

accommodate an accessory structure. 
 (LDC 2.10.05.B.1) 
District:   Commissioner District #5 
 
Dubois said this request is to allow the accessory structure to be built right to the easement line.   
 
Glen Garrow said he does not feel he needs both variances. He said he can build an accessory structure 5 
feet off of the back property line, as long as he builds the structure 10 feet away from the residence.  
Garrow said the pool, plumbing and electrical have been completed.   
 
Bo Thompson said he has no problem with this request.  
 
Richards moved approval without objection of the request.   

 
4. 2015-V-086 

Project/Applicant: Albert Bounds  
Location: 4600 block of Soundside Drive, Gulf Breeze, FL 

 Parcel:   34-2S-28-5180-00000-1440 
Zoned:   R1 (Single Family Residential) 
Request: Variance to reduce the shoreline protection zone setback from 50 feet to 20 

feet to accommodate a single family residence. 
 (LDC 12.01.02.A) 
District:   Commissioner District #5 
 
Cato said shoreline variances are somewhat difficult to discuss because the purpose of the variance is 
unsure at times and it is hard to evaluate whether any impacts have been mitigated if the variance is 
granted.  She said there are 4 purposes that the structural setbacks serve: structural protection, erosion 
siltation, view shed and water quality.  She said she is proposing the board consider requiring the properties 
to be engineered to meet the Land Development Code stormwater quality standards.  Isaacson said he is 
typically not in favor if they go below a 25 foot buffer. Waite asked if the mitigation is for the site itself or 
just the impacted portion. Cato said for the site itself.  Wright asked if there is a county code for the 
application of fertilizer by a property owner.  Cato said no.   
 
Albert Bounds said this lot is sharp on the southeast corner, which is the cause for the variance request.  
Richards asked if the recommendation of the drainfield and holding tank meet the same criteria as set forth 
by the LDC.  Cato said she is not sure. She said if sewer is not available, the Health Department will grant 
the necessary septic permits. Wright asked if this property has always been vacant. McLarty said yes.  
Hawkins asked if this is a natural body of water. Stanhope said yes, but it has been enhanced by dredging.     
 
Richard Frazee said his concern is water quality. He said the location of the septic tanks and drain field 
need to be considered.   
 
Wright asked if the applicant will agree to move the house 5 feet forward.  Bounds said yes.   
 
Frazee said moving the house to the north is a viable option.  Edwards asked if Frazee’s only concern is 
water quality. He said his other concern is his view.   
 
Wright moved approval of the front setback at 20 feet, making the rear setback at 25 feet, with the 
condition the property meet water quality standards. Waite seconded, and the motion passed 
unanimously.    

 
 



 

 

 
5. 2015-V-087 

Project/Applicant: Jonathan Hurly 
Location: 3605 Juniper Creek Road, Milton, FL 

 Parcel:   06-4N-28-2850-00000-0080 
 Zoned:   AG-RR (Agriculture/Rural Residential) 

Request: Variance to reduce the front setback requirement from 25 feet to 14 feet to 
accommodate an accessory building. 

 (LDC 6.05.02.I.2) 
District:   Commissioner District #3 

 
 

Hurly said there are wetlands on this property and if he builds any further from the highway, the accessory 
building encroaches on a tree he wants to save.   

 
 Hawkins moved approval without objection.  
 
6. 2015-V-088 

Project/Applicant: Cajun Contractors Inc. 
   Represented by Troy Bossier  
Location: 2200 block of Highway 87 South, Navarre, FL 

 Parcel:   17-2S-26-0000-00165-0000 
Zoned:   HCD (Highway Commercial Development)-HON (Heart of Navarre) 
Request: Variance to eliminate the requirement within the Heart of Navarre Overlay 

District prohibiting metal and vinyl buildings and to allow a building with 
non-metal façade and the remaining three sides as metal. 

 (LDC 6.05.24.C.2.a) 
District:   Commissioner District #4 

 
Bossier said the use of this building will be a gym. Bossier said the issue is visibility.   

 
Kemp asked if this portion of the LDC has recently been updated. Cato said yes.  

 
 Kemp moved approval without objection.  Hawkins abstained (abstention form on file).  
 
7. 2015-V-089 

Project/Applicant: Eric Cabaniss 
Location: 5800 Block of Highway 90, Milton, FL 

 Parcel:   08-1N-28-0000-04202-0000 
Zoned:   HCD (Highway Commercial Development) 
Request: Variance to increase the allowed encroachment distance of a stormwater 

detention pond from 40% of the required landscape buffer to 85%, 
specifically, allowing the pond to encroach 17 feet into the 20 foot landscape 
buffer. 

 (LDC 7.01.05.D.2) 
District:   Commissioner District #1 
 
Jason Rebold said he is not asking for a reduction of plantings within the buffer.  He said this lot has poor 
draining soil.  Rebold said this proposal allows for a stormwater pond to be large enough to meet county 
requirements.   
 
Kemp said this seems like a drastic reduction. Waite asked if the adjacent neighbor has been contacted.  
Rebold said no.   
 
Hawkins moved approval. Seelman seconded, and the motion passed with Isaacson, Kemp, Hawkins, 
Brupbacher, Seelman, Wright, Dubois, and Edwards in favor.  Richards and Waite opposed.   



 

 

 
8. 2015-V-090 

Project/Applicant: James and Betty Frydrychowicz 
Location: 4098 Oak Pointe Drive, Gulf Breeze, FL 

 Parcel:   27-2S-28-2865-00B00-0150 
Zoned:   R1 (Single Family Residential) 
Request: Variance to reduce the rear setback from 8 feet to 5 feet to accommodate an 

accessory structure, specifically a 6 x 24 pergola. 
 (LDC 6.05.12.E.1.e.3) 
District:   Commissioner District #5 
 
Frydrychowicz discussed the history of this project.   
 
Richards moved approval without objection.   
 

9. 2015-V-091 
Project/Applicant: Carter Environmental/Chris Carter 
Property Owner:  Thomas Gary Hines 
Location: 1680 College Parkway, Gulf Breeze, FL 

 Parcel:   30-2S-28-0302-00A00-0090 
Zoned:   R1 (Single Family Residential) 
Request 1: Variance is to reduce the side setback requirements from 7.5 feet to 0 feet to 

accommodate a dock. 
 (LDC 6.03.05.F.5.a) 
District:   Commissioner District #5 

 
Carter said he is requesting this variance, to be able to bring the boat close to the bulkhead as opposed to 
being water ward outside of the property.   

 
 Brupbacher asked if this type of dock was in place prior to Hurricane Ivan. Carter said yes.   
 
 Hawkins moved approval without objection.   
 
10. 2015-V-092 

Project/Applicant: Lovella Dennis Merkey 
Location: 6436 Robie Road, Milton, FL 

 Parcel:   16-2N-28-0000-05501-0000 
Zoned: HCD (Highway Commercial Development), R2M (Medium Density Mixed 

Residential) 
Request: Variance is to reduce the side setback on an arterial road from 50 feet to 40 

feet to accommodate a single family residence. 
 (LDC 6.05.15.I.1.b) 
District:   Commissioner District #3 

 
Dubois asked if this building will be facing Bruce Lane.  Merkey said yes.  Dubois asked if this will be a 
mobile home. Merkey said yes.   
 
Wright asked if this will be a RV (Recreational Vehicle) park. Merkey said yes.   
 
Kemp asked if Merkey will be managing the RV park. Merkey said yes.   
 
Kemp moved approval without objection.   

 
11. 2015-V-095  

Project/Applicant: Martha Miller 
Location: 3113 Carvajal Court, Navarre, FL 



 

 

Parcel: 02-2S-27-0953-00000-0070 
Zoned: R1 (Single Family Residential) 
Request: Variance is to reduce the front setback from 60 feet to 25 feet to 

accommodate a guest cottage. 
 (LDC 6.03.05.H) 
District: Commissioner District #4 
 
 
Miller said this structure was initially built as a garage for storage.   
 
Rock Hain said he is in favor of this request.  
 

 Waite moved approval without objection.   
 
12. 2015-V-097 

Project/Applicant: A-1 Small Engines/Scott Steadham 
Property Owner:  H Harris Investments Inc.  
Location: 4843 West Spencer Field Road, Pace, FL 

 APO Parcel:  APO 09-1N-29-0000-03003-0000 
Zoned:   HCD (Highway Commercial Development) 
Request: Variance is to allow an additional driveway connection to West Spencer 

Field Road. 
 (LDC 4.04.03.D) 
District:   Commissioner District #1 
 
Steadham said this is an addition to his business.  Dubois said there is interconnectivity to the parcel to the 
north.  Isaacson said his concern is traffic on White Road and a short turn access.  There was continued 
discussion about a turn lane.  
 
Richards moved approval without objection.   

 
13. 2015-CU-037   

Project/Applicant: Stump Springs Baptist Church 
 Represented by Pastor Kevin Nelson and Westel Cabaniss 
Location: 3600 Three Notch Trail, Milton, FL 
Parcel: 03-4N-27-0000-00300-0000 
Zoned: AG-RR (Agriculture/Rural Residential) 
Request: Conditional Use to allow the expansion of a place of worship within an AG-

RR (Agriculture/Rural Residential) zoning district. 
 (LDC 6.09.02.H) 
District: Commissioner District #3 

And 
2015-V-093  
Project/Applicant: Stump Springs Baptist Church 
 Represented by Pastor Kevin Nelson and Westel Cabaniss 
Location: 3600 Three Notch Trail, Milton, FL 
Parcel: 03-4N-27-0000-00300-0000 
Zoned: AG-RR (Agriculture/Rural Residential) 
Request: Variance to reduce the side setbacks from 50 feet to 5 feet to accommodate 

an accessory building. 
 (LDC 6.09.02.H.3) 
District: Commissioner District #3 
 

  Hawkins moved approval without objection of both requests. 
   

 



 

 

14. 2015-CU-038   
Project/Applicant: Auto Depot Navarre/Chris Pike 
Property Owner: IUI Properties Inc. 
Location: 1942 Highway 87 South, Navarre, FL 
Parcels: 20-2S-26-0000-00519-0000, 20-2S-26-0000-00530-0000, and 20-2S-26-0000-

00535-0000 
Zoned: M1-HON (Restricted Industrial-Heart of Navarre) and HCD-HON (Highway 

Commercial Development-Heart of Navarre) 
Request: Conditional Use to allow a commercial auto sales within a HCD-HON 

(Highway Commercial District – Heart of Navarre) and M1-HON 
(Restricted Industrial - Heart of Navarre) zoning district. 

 (LDC 6.05.24.B.3) 
District: Commissioner District #4 

 
And 

2015-V-096  
Project/Applicant: Auto Depot Navarre/Chris Pike 
Property Owner: IUI Properties Inc. 
Location: 1942 Highway 87 South, Navarre, FL 
Parcels: 20-2S-26-0000-00519-0000, 20-2S-26-0000-00530-0000, and 20-2S-26-0000-

00535-0000 
Zoned: M1-HON (Restricted Industrial-Heart of Navarre) and HCD-HON (Highway 

Commercial Development-Heart of Navarre) 
Request: Variance to allow a mulch parking lot within a HCD-HON (Highway 

Commercial District – Heart of Navarre) and M1-HON (Restricted 
Industrial - Heart of Navarre) zoning district. 

 (LDC 6.05.24.C.2.j.1) 
District: Commissioner District #4 
 
Kemp said Pike has a lease to sell cars at this location.  Pike said he realized after he signed the lease that 
he was only allowed to sell cars on 1 of the 3 lots.   
 
Edwards said there is a reason for HON zoning. She said she cannot approve this request.  
 
Cato said this operation has grown considerably, which makes it different than what the Zoning Board 
previously approved for this property.   
 
Cato said if this Conditional Use is approved, auto sales will be permitted on all 3 lots.   
 
Kemp moved denial of the Conditional Use request. Seelman seconded, the motion failed with 
Edwards, Dubois, Kemp in favor.  Isaacson, Richards, Waite, Wright, Seelman, Brupbacher, 
Hawkins opposed.    
 
Hawkins moved approval of the Conditional Use. Waite seconded, and the motion passed with 
Richards, Waite, Wright, Seelman, Brupbacher, Hawkins, and Isaacson in favor.  Dubois, Kemp 
Edwards opposed. 
 
Waite asked if the board can approve a semi-impervious surface for this request. Cato said the board can 
approve the request with the condition, “non-paved, as long as it is not mulch”.   Pike said he is agreeable 
to using a different type of surface.  
 
Isaacson moved denial of the variance. Richards seconded. Isaacson withdrew the motion. 
 
Hawkins moved approval without objection to table the variance request until the January meeting.    
 



 

 

15. Proposed text amendment to the Land Development Code, amending Article 3, replacing Article 10, and 
amending Article 12, pertaining to flood plain management.  Presented by Rhonda Royals 
 
Royals said she is seeking a recommendation for these amendments to go before the Board of County 
Commissioners. She said she is recommending repealing article 10 and replacing it with a model ordinance 
developed by the Florida Division of Emergency Management and approved by FEMA.   
 
Dubois said this is mainly an administrative change.  Seelman asked about the liability disclaimer. Andrews 
said this does not create liability for the county.   
 
Dubois moved approval without objection of the proposed amendments.   

Chairperson Matters: 

 Elect a New Chairman and Vice Chairman: 

 Dubois moved approval without objection of Waite as Chairman. 

 Seelman moved approval without objection of Kemp as Vice-Chairman.   

Planning Department Matters: 

Review of BOCC October 22, 2015, meeting results: 

1. Appeal for Variance Request 2015-V-074  
2. Conditional Use Request: 2015-CU-036 
3. Rezoning Request: 2015-R-017 

 
McLarty said the appeal for variance 2015-V-074 was denied without objection. He said the appeal for case 
2015-V-074 for the reduction of the shoreline protection zone was approved without objection.  He said the 
Board of Commissioners approved cases 2015-CU-036 and 2015-R-017 without objection.    

 

Announcement of Next Zoning Board Meeting:  

The next Zoning Board meeting will be held Thursday, November 19, 2015.   

Adjourn:  

 There being no further business to come before the board at this time, the meeting adjourned.   

 

 

 _________________________________________ 

Chairman 


